1974

F. William McGinn II v. Utah Power & Light Company : Brief of Appellant

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action for personal injuries sustained by the plaintiff when the mast of a sailboat he and four others were carrying from a county road to the north shore of Bear Lake (in Idaho) came in contact with defendant's electric power line.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was submitted to the jury pursuant to the Idaho comparative negligence statute. The jury found the plaintiff sixty (60%) percent negligent and the defendant forty (40%) percent negligent. The lower court entered a judgment of no cause of action. Plaintiff's motion for new trial was granted. Defendant's petition for an intermediate appeal to this court was granted.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks a reversal of the order granting a new trial and reinstatement of the judgment of no cause of action.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This action for personal injuries arose out of an accident that occurred on the north shore of Bear Lake in Bear Lake County, Idaho, on July 23, 1972.

The defendant owns and operates a pumping plant at the north end of Bear Lake which is commonly known as Camp Lifton (Exs. 36-D, 38-D and 43-D; R. 434). The pumping plant is used to pump water out of Bear Lake into the North Lake and Bear River to be used for irrigation and hydroelectric generation (R. 731, P. 509). There is a county road which traverses the causeway at the north end of Bear Lake (Exs. 32-D, 34-D, 48-D). The causeway separates

Bear Lake from North Lake. The Idaho State Park is located on the north shore of Bear Lake approximately three-quarters of a mile east of Camp Lifton (Ex. 48-D; R. 442). The state park is located on land owned by the defendant and leased to the State of Idaho (Exs. 80-D, 81-D, 82-D). The park is equipped with facilities such as picnic tables, culinary water, rest rooms, charcoal grills and a boat jetty with a cement ramp on the end which is used to launch boats (Exs. 19-D, 20-D; R. 436). Kirk Rich, who was employed by the Idaho Department of Parks as a park ranger at the Idaho State Park during the summers of 1970, 1971 and 1972, testified he had seen hundreds of boats launched from the boat jetty (R. 455). The Idaho State Park has been a public facility since 1963 (R. 445). The boat jetty was constructed in 1964 and 1965 (R. 455). The state park is approximately one and three-quarters miles in length (R. 435).

Although camping and boating facilities were available in the Idaho State Park east of Camp Lifton, the accident occurred in an area just west of Camp Lifton. *This area is also owned by the defendant* (R. 228). The area west of Camp Lifton is "sandy and hilly" and covered with weeds (R. 689, 664). There are three separate power lines which run parallel to the north shore of Bear Lake west of Camp Lifton (Exs. 32-D, 34-D). There is a "230 KV line" which crosses the county road just west of Camp Lifton and is located along the north side of the county road, a "12 KV line" which is located along the south side of

the county road and a "46 KV line" which is located further south of the county road (R. 733-734, P. 511-512; Exs. 32-D, 34-D).

The mast of the boat being carried by the plaintiff and his companions came in contact with the 46 KV line (Ex. 43-D).

The 46 KV line was originally constructed in 1913 and rebuilt on the same alignment in 1957 (R. 784, P. 586). The National Electric Safety Code, which controls the construction and maintenance of electric power lines, requires a minimum vertical clearance of 21 feet at sixty degrees temperature for a 46 KV line (R. 784, P. 586). The line in question was constructed to provide 26 feet of vertical clearance at 120 degrees temperature (R. 784, P. 586).

The 46 KV line, as built, exceeded the vertical clearance requirements of the National Electric Safety Code by five feet at twice the temperature (R. 784, P. 586). *This clearance existed on the date of the accident.* (R. 712, P. 490). The 46 KV line is inspected by fixed-wing aircraft every month, by helicopter once every six months and by walking inspection once every year (R. 329). The annual walking inspection was performed on July 10, 1972 (R. 330). There were no defects found in this section of the line (R. 330-331).

Two weeks before the accident happened, Richard Ricks (hereinafter "Ricks"), a friend of the plaintiff F. William McGinn (hereinafter "McGinn"), drove to Bear Lake to find a camp site (R. 691). Ricks drove

through the Idaho State Park and observed the facilities but decided it would be crowded over the July 24th weekend. He selected the area west of Camp Lifton for the weekend party (R. 692). Ricks made a map of the north end of the lake and indicated the camp site on the map (R. 577). The map was given to McGinn (R. 577).

There were no camping or boating facilities west of Camp Lifton (R. 459-460). However, people did use the area for picnicking and swimming particularly on holiday weekends when the state park was crowded (R. 438). Local people from St. Charles, Paris or Montpelier, Idaho, made daytime use of the area (R. 725, P. 503). There were no Utah Power and Light signs in the area west of Camp Lifton (R. 438, 542).

None of the witnesses who testified had ever seen a boat carried from the county road to the lake west of Camp Lifton.

On Saturday evening, July 22, 1972, McGinn and his date, Sarah Gittens (hereinafter "Gittens"), drove to Bear Lake in McGinn's car (R. 577). Ricks and his date, Lana Omura (hereinafter "Omura") drove to Bear Lake in Ricks' car (R. 683). Ricks was pulling a motorboat behind his automobile (R. 684). James McNeil (hereinafter "McNeil") drove to Bear Lake alone in his car trailing the catamaran sailboat which was involved in the accident (R. 643; Exs. 47-D, 50-D). McGinn and Ricks and McNeil are all fraternity brothers (R. 616).

McGinn was not able to locate the camp site from the map but met Ricks in the Idaho State Park (R. 639). Ricks directed McGinn out of the state park to the area west of Camp Lifton (R. 635-636). McGinn and Gittens slept on the beach in an area approximately half way between the county road and water's edge (Ex. 57-D). This area is almost directly under the 46 KV line. Ricks and Omura slept near the water's edge so they could secure the motorboat which he had launched at the Utah State Park (on the west side of Bear Lake) and brought to their camp site. McNeil slept on the trampoline on his sailboat which was parked just south of the county road (R. 646; Ex. 57-D).

Gittens testified that just before she went to sleep she "noticed" a buzzing sound (R. 636). She asked McGinn, "what is that buzzing noise?" He answered, "Must be power lines or something." She stated they thought the buzzing was coming from power lines that were running across the road (R. 636). McGinn testified that Gittens had noticed the humming and asked, "What is that buzzing?" McGinn answered, "It is high voltage." (R. 581) McGinn was an employee of Yates Electric at the time of the accident (R. 574A (missed in pagination)).

McNeil testified he could hear the power lines humming as he went to sleep (R. 665-666). He realized there was a power line between himself and the road (R. 668).

Omura admitted on cross-examination that she remembered being aware of power lines (R. 687).

Ricks testified he observed the "power lines" that were in the area west of Camp Lifton (R. 696). He stated he could hear the buzzing when he was down on the beach (R. 696). Ricks said he knew the buzzing sound meant there were some electrical lines in the area (R. 697).

McGinn had been sailing before with McNeil at Willard Bay. They launched the sailboat there from the public ramp (R. 628).

When they awoke the next morning at about eight-thirty, it was a clear day (R. 623). They put the sleeping bags in the car, then McNeil and McGinn drove west on the county road to a store and service station (R. 582-583). The county road is bordered on the north by the 230 KV line, on the south by the 12 KV line and goes under the 46 KV line approximately one and a half miles west of Camp Lifton (R. 781-782, P. 583-584, Exs. 34-D, 32-D). When McGinn and McNeil returned to the camp site, they decided to put the mast up on the sailboat and carry it down to the lake (R. 583). The mast is 26 feet long (R. 677; Exs. 47-D, 50-D). It can be "stepped" while the boat is on the trailer or on the beach (R. 660-661). After the mast was in place, Ricks and McNeil got on one side of the boat, McGinn, Omura and Gittens got on the other side and they proceeded to carry the 315 pound boat toward the lake (R. 584). As they carried the boat toward the lake, the mast hit the 46 KV line (R. 584). There are weld marks about six inches down from the top of the mast where it hit the power line (R. 652; Exs. 53-D,

55-D). The electricity apparently went through the aluminum mast, an aluminum tiller, then through McGinn to ground. The accident happened at about 9:38 a.m. (R. 742, P. 521). The point where the mast hit the power line was 193 feet west of the two poles (structures) shown on the right hand side of Exhibits 37-D and 43-D. The red and yellow fiberglass measuring pole in Exhibits 37-D and 43-D is located at the approximate point where the mast struck the power line (R. 711, P. 489). The power line was 29 feet one inch above the ground at this point (R. 712, P. 490).

McGinn was taken to the hospital in Montpelier, Idaho, and then to the University of Utah Medical Center in Salt Lake City.

At the conclusion of all the evidence, the court ruled that McGinn was not a trespasser as a matter of law; that the jury would *not* be advised of the effect of their answers to the questions involved; that plaintiff could amend the general prayer from \$350,000 to \$500,000 and that there was insufficient evidence to submit an issue of punitive damages to the jury (R. 815). Defendant's motion for a directed verdict was denied (R. 895). The case was submitted to the jury on the issue of the defendant's and plaintiff's negligence. The jury returned a special verdict as follows: (R. 88).

SPECIAL VERDICT

We, the jury, find, by a preponderance of the evidence, in this case the following answers to the questions propounded to us:

QUESTION NO. 1. Was the defendant Utah Power & Light Company guilty of negligence which was a proximate cause of plaintiff's injuries?

Yes No

QUESTION NO. 2. Was the plaintiff F. William McGinn II guilty of negligence which was a proximate cause of his injuries?

Yes No

If you answer "yes" to either of the prior questions, then answer the next questions.

QUESTION NO. 3. Considering all the negligence that caused the accident to be one hundred percent, what percentage is attributable to:

(a) The defendant Utah Power & Light Company 40%

(b) The plaintiff F. William McGinn 60%

TOTAL: 100%

QUESTION NO. 4. Disregarding any of the previous answers, what is the total amount of damages sustained by plaintiff F. William McGinn II as a result of the incident?

(a) General damages including lost wages \$150,000.00

(b) Special damages \$ 18,150.00

TOTAL: \$168,150.00

/s/ Marie H. McDonald

Foreman

Date: December 3, 1973

Based on the jury's answers to the special verdict, the court entered judgment of no cause of action (R. 81). Defendant's motion to strike the affidavits or in the alternative to obtain counteraffidavits was denied (R. 15). Plaintiff's motion for new trial was granted on the grounds the jury should have been advised of the affect of the comparative negligence and should have been advised there is no relationship between the damage answer and the percentages (R. 16). Defendant's petition to this court for an interlocutory appeal was granted (R. 2).

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL.

Under the Idaho comparative negligence law, a jury should not be informed of the effect their answers to the special verdict will have on the final outcome of the case.

Before the trial in this case commenced, the parties, through their respective counsel, agreed that since this accident occurred on the Idaho side of Bear Lake, this matter would be tried under the Idaho comparative negligence law. During the trial, a question of law arose relating to whether or not the jury should be informed of the effect of their answers to the special interrogatories which would be submitted under the provisions of the Idaho comparative negligence law. Although there was no controlling Idaho decision on this issue to guide the trial judge at the time of the

trial. (November 26 through December 3, 1973) he followed the general rule that the jury should not be informed of the effect of their answers to the special interrogatories. However, on March 7, 1974, the Supreme Court of Idaho in *Holland v. Peterson*, Idaho, 518 P.2d 1190 (1974) ruled that in a case tried under comparative negligence, the trial court must not instruct the jury as to what effect their answers will have on the final outcome of the case.

“Appellant’s final assignment of error is that the trial court erred in instructing the jury that they should not concern themselves with whether their answers to the interrogatories submitted to them would be favorable to one party or another. *The general rule, and the one that we adopt today, is that it is reversible error for the trial court to instruct the jury as to the effect their answers will have on the final outcome of the case. See Annot. 90 ALR2d 1041, (1963). Of course, it may not always be possible to frame the interrogatories in language that won’t tend to inform the jury of the effect, but they should never be instructed what it will be.*” (Emphasis added)

The Idaho Supreme Court’s decision on this issue is in accord with nearly all of the other comparative negligence jurisdictions. Wisconsin clearly does not permit the jury to be informed of the effect of its answers to the special verdict. *Fehrman v. Smirl*, 121 N.W.2d 255 (Wis. 1963) was a malpractice case where the judgment for the defendant was reversed because of instructions which tended to inform the jury of the result of its answers to the special verdict. The instruction read:

“You are further insrtucted that it is the duty of the patient to follow the reasonable instructions and submit to the reasonable treatment prescribed by his physician or surgeon. If he fails in his duty, and his act or omission directly contributes to the injury or disability, *he cannot maintain an action* for malpractice against his physician or surgeon, who is also guilty of an act or omission in treating the case.” *Id.* at 265.

The Supreme Court of Wisconsin stated:

“Furthermore, because of the use of the phrase ‘cannot maintain an action for malpractice,’ this instruction is highly objectionable because it tends to inform the jury of the legal effect of their answer to a question of the special verdict.

Two other attacked instructions, which were given with respect to the jury’s answering Question One of the special verdict, were also objectionable because couched in terms which tended to inform the jury of the legal effect of answering Question One of the special verdict ‘yes.’ ” *Id.* at 265.

In *Erb v. Mutual Service Casualty Company*, 123 N.W.2d 493 (Wis. 1963), the attorney for the plaintiff informed the jury in his argument that if it answered a special interrogatory regarding whether an automobile had been sold in the affirmative, the insurance policy on the automobile would be void. The Wisconsin Supreme Court held the attorney’s comment “indefensively improper” and stated:

“The argument of counsel, however, was calculated to inform the jury of the effect of their answer, and under the facts in the instant action were sufficiently prejudicial so as to affect the

substantial rights of Mutual Service, warranting the granting of a new trial. . . . *Id.* at 469.

In *Gardner v. Germain*, 117 N.W.2d 759 (Minn. 1962), an automobile death case, the court held that it was reversible error to disclose to the jury the legal effect of the findings when a special verdict is employed. Accordingly, the court could not be concerned with what the jury hoped the outcome of the case would be and could not grant a new trial based upon a juror's affidavit that when the jury found both the plaintiff and the defendant negligent, it believed the plaintiff would recover. See also *McCourtie v. United States Steel Corp.*, 93 N.W.2d 552 (Minn. 1958); *Flick v. Walfinger*, 198 N.W.2d 146 (Minn. 1972); and *Johnson v. O'Brien*, 105 N.W.2d 244 (Minn. 1960).

In *Harbison v. Briggs Bros. Paint Manufacturing Co.*, 354 S.W.2d 464 (Tenn. 1962), an action for personal injuries, the court analyzed the Tennessee special verdict statute and held that "it is error for the judge to inform the jury of the effect their answers may have upon the case because such information would almost necessarily defeat the object to be secured by the answers to such interrogatories." *Id.* at 471.

Argo v. Blackshear, 416 S.W.2d 314 (Ark. 1967) was an action by the parents of a deceased child against a motorist who struck and killed the child as she ran across the highway. The case was submitted to the jury under a special verdict as required by the Arkansas comparative negligence statute. The jury returned with

a finding of equal negligence on both the plaintiff and defendant. The attorney for the plaintiff then requested that the trial judge ascertain whether the jury intended for the parents to recover. The judge then informed the jury that, under the law, the finding of equal negligence barred any recovery by the plaintiffs. The jury then returned a verdict in favor of the plaintiffs. The Arkansas Supreme Court reversed and held that it was error for the trial judge to specifically inform the jurors of the effect on the ultimate judgment of their answers to the specially submitted questions. The court stated:

“When the jury was polled and further questioned by the judge as to their intentions in answering the interrogatories, at no place did they retract the findings on total damages and apportionment of negligence. The only additional information supplied was to the effect that they wanted to see plaintiffs recover the full \$18,000. This pointedly illustrates the value of interrogatories. Jurors honestly answer four relatively simple questions, not knowing the legal effect will be contrary to their personal wishes. Additionally, this situation justifies the rule that for the judge to specifically inform the jurors as to the effect of their answers on the ultimate judgment is reversible error. 90 A.L.R.2d 1041. As said by this court in *Wright v. Convey*, 233 Ark. 798, 349 S.W.2d 344 (1961): ‘The reason for the rule is that the special interrogatories are intended to elicit the jury’s unbiased judgment upon the issues of fact, and this purpose might be frustrated if the jurors are in a position to frame their answers with a conscious desire to aid one side or the other.’ ”

See also *International Harvester Co. v. Pike*, 466 S.W.2d 901 (Ark. 1971) where the court reversed and remanded a judgment for the plaintiff on the basis that it was error for the plaintiff's attorney to advise the jury that an affirmative answer to the assumption of risk interrogatory would preclude recovery by the plaintiff.

The only case which appellants have been able to locate that holds the jury should be informed of the effect of their answers to the special verdict interrogatories is a decision by an intermediate court in Colorado, *Simpson v. Anderson*, (Docket No. 73-009, Colorado Court of Appeals, 1973). This case is currently on appeal to the Colorado Supreme Court, but there has been no decision by that court as of the date of this brief. Therefore, this Colorado intermediate appellate court's decision should not be taken as reliable precedent, especially when compared to the well reasoned decisions from courts of final determination, including Idaho's, which directly contravene this case.

The leading work in the field of comparative negligence is the *Comparative Negligence Manual*, a practical treatise of the law in this area. This book was written by two of the leading experts in comparative negligence law, Carroll R. Heft and C. James Heft. These two practicing Wisconsin attorneys have wide experience in working with comparative negligence, since Wisconsin has had a law similar to Idaho's and Utah's for many years. The authors of this treatise state that a jury should act solely as a fact finding body

and should not be informed of the legal effect of its answers.

“The special verdict is the very cornerstone of the comparative negligence concept, and the jury does not, and should not, know the legal effect and result of its answers to the interrogatories.

By using the procedure of a special verdict under comparative negligence, a jury finds the facts without regard to the ultimate outcome of the case. The court takes the facts as found by the jury and awards judgment. The procedure is intended to ascertain the truth untainted by prejudice or desire to see one of the parties win or lose.” . . . *Id.* Section 8.10, chapter 8, page 1.

“It is obvious that meticulous care should be exercised in *not* informing the jury of the effect of their answers upon the final outcome of the case. Care must be exercised by counsel in argument. Care must be exercised by the court in the wording of the questions and in the instructions.

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