2001

F. William McGinn II v. Utah Power and Light Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action for personal injuries sustained by the plaintiff when the mast of a sailboat he and four others were carrying into Bear Lake came in contact with one of defendant's electric power lines resulting in substantial burns and other injuries to plaintiff.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

After a five day jury trial, and upon special verdict, the jury found that both the plaintiff and de-

defendant were negligent but the plaintiff's negligence was 60 percent responsible for the accident whereas the defendant contributed 40 percent to the accident. The lower court entered a judgment of no cause of action and subsequently granted plaintiff's motion for new trial on alternative grounds.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks reversal of the order granting a new trial and reinstatement of the judgment of no cause of action.

Plaintiff, (and cross-appellant), seeks first that the trial court's order granting a new trial be affirmed and, in the alternative, that this court grant a new trial on the additional grounds raised by way of cross-appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 23, 1972, F. William McGinn II was electrocuted and burned while carrying a sailboat across an open beach with friends on the north shore of Bear Lake in Bear Lake County, Idaho. The unmarked beach across which Mr. McGinn and his friends were carrying the boat was owned by Utah Power and Light Company. To its immediate north is a county road which runs along the north shore past a Utah Power and Light pumping station called Camp Lifton and an Idaho State Park.

The beach where the accident occurred west of the Camp Lifton pumping station has other characteristics which make it a desirable recreation area, despite the presence of the three power lines described at length by defendant-appellant in its brief. The water is shallow (R. 538), the beach itself is composed of gently rolling sand dunes covered with annual grass (R. 539), and it is generally a "nice family area," "a particularly appealing area for young families with young children." (R. 538-539). There were no signs or fencing or any other form of warning indicating high tension wires or indicating no trespassing (R. 542). The beach has been regularly used for recreation for years, particularly on July 4th and 24th (R. 178). Based on the evidence the court found as a matter of law that plaintiff was not a trespasser at the time and place of the accident (R. 815).

Although the members of the party were aware of the 230,000 volt line on the north side of the road, they were not aware of the smaller 46,000 volt line where the accident occurred (R. 626, 651, 640). When the mast of the boat struck the power line Mr. McGinn was shocked, he fell to the ground stunned with no pulse or breathing (R. 588, 589). He immediately caught fire (R. 638). From the burns which he received, both from the power lines and from the fire, Mr. McGinn suffered burns over thirty percent of his body surface (R. 484). He had a serious electrical burn on the right flank and another on the left foot. His chest, right arm, groin and both legs were covered with second and third degree burns. Following all treatment Mr.

McGinn, characterized by the surgeon who treated him as being an exceptionally successful case (R. 523), lost four toes, suffered considerable scarring (R. 521) and has a substantial surface of his body covered with skin grafts which will always be slow in healing, highly sensitive to extreme temperatures, susceptible to trauma which will require new skin grafts, and otherwise provide physical limitations for plaintiff for the rest of his life (R. 591-594). In addition, plaintiff will be susceptible to thrombophlebitis (R. 501) and cataracts (R. 505). In addition to his lost wages of \$4,797.37 (Ex. 11P, 72P) plaintiff, Mr. McGinn, was forced to give up his planned career in the National Guard with the resulting loss of future income of somewhere between \$40,172.26 to \$88,487.28 (Ex. 73P, 74P).

The focus of this appeal is not the merits of the case but rather the procedures by which the case was submitted to the jury and subsequently a new trial was granted. Therefore, although a brief summary of facts of the case is given as a supplement to those facts presented in appellant's brief, a greater emphasis should be placed upon the procedural aspects of the case.

As pointed out by Appellant this case was tried under the Idaho Comparative Negligence Statute. However, of course, it was tried under Utah procedural law. The trial judge ruled that no instructions would be given to the jury concerning the effect of their decision on percentage of negligence and further, the court prohibited any argument or mention of percentages in closing argument (R. 817).

The jury returned a verdict finding defendant, Utah Power and Light Company, forty percent negligent and plaintiff, F. William McGinn II, sixty percent negligent. The jury also assessed \$150,000.00 general damages and \$18,150.00 special damages. Following entry of judgment plaintiff filed a motion for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict or in the alternative for a new trial.

The motion for a new trial was based upon defects in the issuance of special interrogatories and errors of law committed in the judge's direction on argument before the jury. In support of that motion plaintiff filed an extensive brief and, in addition, filed affidavits of five jurors indicating there was substantial confusion concerning the meaning and effect of the special interrogatories which confusion resulted in significant error by the jury. Trial Judge Marcellus K. Snow granted the Motion for a New Trial on two alternative grounds. The first ground was that the jury should have been advised of the results of their percentage findings through appropriate instructions and argument of counsel. The alternative ground which the court found to be a sufficient independent reason for granting a new trial was that the jurors were not sufficiently instructed as to the relationship, or lack of relationship, between the percentage findings and damages regardless of the instruction received as to the legal meaning of the percentages. The judge indicated in the ruling that the affidavits of jurors had no substantial affect upon the order granting a new trial. It is from this

order granting a new trial that defendant appealed and it is in light of the propriety of that order that the appeal should be judged.

INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT

As the Court is perhaps aware, the instant case was the first case ever tried in the State of Utah involving an application of comparative negligence, with the exception, of course, of numerous FELA cases which have been processed through the courts of this State and which involve a concept of so-called "complete comparative negligence". During the course of the trial several issues arose which were issues of first impression in this State. Only one of those was the issue of "blind-folding" the jury which is discussed extensively in the Appellant's Brief and which will be discussed in Point I hereinafter. Other issues, equally critical, and before this Court either by way of the appeal, or the cross appeal, include instructions to be given to the jury regarding the percentage findings and damages as well as the sphere of permissible argument on the percentages.

It is the position of plaintiff that this Court should resolve all of these issues of first impression and, after resolving the same, should remand the case for a new trial in accordance with the ruling of the trial court,

with the guidance of this Court on the various issues. A dismissal of this case, by this Court, would result in substantial prejudice to the plaintiff whose principle dilemma is that his case happened to be the first comparative negligence case tried in this jurisdiction.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL.

We preface this discussion by noting that the granting or denying of a new trial is essentially a matter within the sound discretion of the trial court. *Lehi Irrigation Co. v. Steven Moyle*, 4 Utah 327, 9 Pac. 867 (1886):

Motions for new trial are always addressed to the sound discretion of the court, and whether granted or denied, the discretion of the trial court will be presumed to have been properly exercised unless the contrary may be made clearly to appear. (4 Utah 327 at 329, 9 Pac. 867 at 869).

The Appellant seems to have forgotten, in its Brief, that the Motion and Order for new trial were in the alternative. Appellant would lead this Court to believe that the only issue presented and resolved was whether or not the jury should be "blindfolded". To the contrary, the Motion for New Trial itself, in addition to other grounds, was framed in the alternative as follows:

There was error of law committed by the trial court in failing to instruct the jury as to the consequences of their special verdict findings and, in the *alternative*, in failing to submit special interrogatories in such a fashion as to not mislead the jury. (R. 45, Emphasis added).

Likewise, in argument before the trial court on the Motion for New Trial, following argument on the “blindfolding” issue, the alternative ground for new trial was argued whereby plaintiff sought more specific instructions on the relationship between the percentages and the damages such as those given in Wisconsin (see R. 930), and also seeking more liberality in terms of argument. (R. 931). In concluding argument on this point counsel made it clear that the request for new trial was in the alternative:

. . . grant a new trial either on the theory that we tell them, or if we don't tell them, give them more instruction so that we can at least eliminate some of these problems that we have discussed.

The order of the trial court, granting the new trial, was likewise phrased in the alternative. The court first found that a new trial should be granted on the ground that:

In comparative negligence cases the jury should be advised of the results of their percentage findings through appropriate instructions and argument of counsel. (Para 3 at R. 16)

The Court continued:

4. Alternatively, and in all events, the Court is of the opinion that substantial justice has not

been done in the present case. The jurors were not sufficiently instructed as to the relationship, or lack of relationship, between the percentage findings and the damages. Therefore, even if the jury is not told the legal meaning of the percentages, it should be more specifically instructed on how to answer the interrogatories. The jury should be advised and instructed specifically that there is no relationship between the damage answer and the percentages. (R. 16)

Although Appellant has argued at length about the “blindfolding question”, it has not addressed itself whatsoever to the alternative holding of the trial court as set forth above regarding appropriate instructions.

In this point, we will discuss both grounds for the new trial and in the remaining points of the brief we shall discuss the points on cross-appeal.

A. The jury should be advised of the effect of its percentage findings.

An issue presented by the appeal, among others, is whether in instructing the jury and allowing argument to the jury, the trial court should either inform them or allow counsel to inform them that a finding of the plaintiff’s negligence being greater than that of the defendant will defeat recovery by the plaintiff.

It is important that the Court, in grappling with the problem, be fully aware that the question is *entirely open*. That is, this matter is not controlled by the Idaho case law nor is it necessarily resolved by reference to another State such as Wisconsin. The question pre-

sented is a philosophical one, touching rather fundamental concepts, which ought properly to be resolved by each State in accordance with its own traditions and philosophy.

The law of Utah rather than the law of Idaho is controlling on matters regarding the submission of the case to the jury.

Perhaps the most fundamental error committed by the Power Company in its Brief is the assumption that Idaho law, rather than Utah law, is controlling on the question of whether or not the jury should be blindfolded.¹ Appellant simply ignores the fundamental choice of law question inherent in this matter — in considering how the jury is to be instructed does the law of the forum (Utah) or the law of the *lex loci* (Idaho) apply?

The law is settled beyond reasonable argument that such a question should be governed by the law of Utah rather than that of the law of Idaho.² We start with the general proposition that the procedural laws of the forum are to apply rather than those of the place of the tort. *Buhler v. Maddison*, 109 Utah 245, 166 P.2d 205 (1946). It is also quite clear that the method of submission to the jury and the form of verdict are “procedural” rather than substantive in this context. See, for example, Section 127, *American Law Institute, Re-*

¹ See, for example, the assertion at page 16 of Appellant’s Brief to the effect that “*Holland v. Petersen*, the Idaho Comparative Negligence Case . . . is controlling in this case.”

² This matter was briefed in the lower court — see R 63, 64.

statement of the Law of Conflict of Laws 2nd (1971) which states that:

The local law of the forum governs rules of pleading and the conduct of proceedings in Court.

In a comment to that general proposition, there is an elaboration stating that:

The local law of the forum governs, among other things, the following matters: . . . the form of verdict and judgment.

Analogously, the Federal Courts have held in diversity cases that State law regarding the relative function of judge and jury should not be applied, but that the Federal law on that subject is controlling as it is "procedural". For example, in *Mississippi Power & Light Co. v. Whitescarver*, 68 F.2d 928, 929 (5th Cir. 1934), the Court observed:

Section 511 of Mississippi Code of 1930 provides that the negligence of the person injured shall not bar a recovery, but the damages shall be diminished by the jury in proportion to the amount of negligence attributable to him. Section 512 is that all questions of negligence and contributory negligence shall be for the jury to determine. We agree with appellant's contention that the latter section is not binding in a federal court, but deals with the functions of judge and jury as to which federal courts have their own organization and as to which state law is without effect.

Therefore, while Idaho's substantive law applies in this case, (i.e. the law of comparative negligence),

Utah is free to apply its own procedural law and to decide for itself the nature of the relationship between judge and jury. The assumption of the Power Company that Idaho law is “controlling” is palpably erroneous.

THE CONTROVERSEY

The basic question — “should the jury be blindfolded?” is far more simply stated than resolved. There is respectable and indeed plethoric authority on this subject, both case and commentary, pro and con.³ To summarize, analyze, quote from and argue those volumes would consume far more pages than this Court’s rules or time would allow, and thus we would rather analyze a more specific question — “should the jury be blindfolded in *Utah*?”

We start with the proposition that, although Rule 49, *Utah Rules of Court Procedure*, no doubt allows the use of special verdicts, the tradition in this State has been essentially a tradition of general verdicts.

³ See, e.g. **Badger v. Louisville & Nashville RR**, 414 F.2d 880 (5th Cir. 1969); **Wilson v. Benton**, 476 S.W.2d 214 (Ark. 1972); **Chitwood v. Myers**, 443 S.W.2d 827 (Tenn. 1969); Thode, **Comparative Negligence Contribution Among Tort-Feasors and the Effect of a Release — A Triple Play by the Utah Legislature**, 1973 Utah L. Rev. 406; Fine, **Does the Trend in Our Substantive Law Dictate an Expanded Use of the Special Verdict?**, 37 Albany L. Rev. 229 (1973); Flynn, **Comparative Negligence: the Debate**, Trial 219 (May/June 1972); Guinn, **The Jury System and Special Verdicts**, 2 St. Mary’s L.J. 175 (1970); Denton, **Informing a Jury of the Legal Effect of its Answer**, 2 St. Mary’s L.J. 1 (1970); Green, **The Submission of Special Verdicts in Negligence Cases — A Critique of the Bug Bite Case**, XVII University of Miami L. Rev. 469 (1963); Bertelsman, **Special Verdicts and Interrogatories**, 30 Univ. of Cincinnati L. Rev. 208 (1961).

This Court has placed its imprimatur on that tradition. In *Baker v. Cook*, 6 Utah 2d 161, 164, 308 P. 2d 264, 267 (1957) the Court noted:

As heretofore observed, great care should be taken to submit questions to the jury so that they are as clear as possible. When a general verdict will best settle the issues, it should be used. When specific issues cannot be reached by a general verdict, the trial court should take advantage of special verdicts or special interrogatories.

And in *Barton v. Jensen*, 19 Utah 2d 196, 199, 429 P. 2d 44, 46 (1967) four of the Justices adopted the following statement:

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